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McNULTY:

As my resumé indicates, I was born in Elizabeth, New Jersey, in 1914. One of my
distinctions is that when I was born, perhaps one mother in a hundred went to a hospital
to have her baby. Both my parents were somewhat scientifically oriented, so I was born
in a hospital. Through the years, there are those who have said that’s what’s wrong with
me. The theory was if I had had a wholesome birth in the home, I would now be better
off.

We lived in several different communities in and around the Elizabeth and
Newark areas, as my dad would be transferred from one location to another by the
telephone company. At that time, the engineering job title was wire chief. He was wire
chief of different exchanges. Exchanges had names then, so that when you called, you
would give the exchange name to the operator. An operator with a big hello made for a
popular exchange.

There were lots of exchanges. As I recall, as you progressed in the telephone
business you were made a wire chief of a larger branch office. Finally, New York and
Bell Telephone Company disenfranchised a portion of their activity in New Jersey. They
then set up New Jersey Bell Telephone Company. My dad ran the headquarters, which
was in Newark, so we moved to Hillside, a suburb, and lived there until the rest of our
active schooling was completed.

I had one brother and one sister. My brother was killed in the 29th Infantry
Division in France during World War II on the Allied drive to move the Germans out of
France. My brother was a junior at Seton Hall College when the war came. There was no

draft; you would just go. My sister is a graduate of St. Elizabeth College in New Jersey.



She is married now, no children. That was my immediate family. We went to elementary
school at Hillside. It was run by the Dominican nuns. Ithen went to St. Benedict’s
Preparatory School. At that time, prep schools in New England and New Jersey were
quite prominent in athletics. St. Benedict’s was a football powerhouse. I was not a
football player, but at St. Benedict’s we had the national prep school cross-country
championship for one year when I was there. Our team went to the Penn relays every
year in the prep school division. I continued to play baseball and run cross-country in
college. I was a pitcher on the college baseball team.

NEUHAUSER:

When you were growing up, I assume that your early recollections must have been

in the 1920s.

McNULTY:
Yes.

NEUHAUSER:

Did you live in an apartment or a house?
McNULTY:

My recollections are of living in a house. I never recall living in an apartment,
but I do remember visiting relatives who lived in an apartment. I recall thinking how
stifling that must be. That wasn’t my term at that time. There wasn’t much room to play.
In our part of the country, there was always a basement to the house.

NEUHAUSER:

With a coal cellar?



McNULTY:

A coal cellar, right. We had a window where the coal came through.
NEUHAUSER:

Were you allowed to play in the coal cellar?

McNULTY:

Yes. It was walled off. Part of the wall was brick and the other part was wooden,
so the rest of the cellar was fair game where we could skate. I remember learning how to
skate on the concrete floor of the cellar. It was also the washeteria, so you had soapstone
tubs and washboards, yes, and a washing machine. As early as I can remember, we had a
washing machine with a wringer mounted on the side of it. The clothes went in it. It was
like a round tub with an agitator. Then you took the clothes out and put them through the
wringer. Then you took them outside to hang on the line. Even when I was going to prep
school, Monday morning was wash day, and it always started a little earlier. I remember
my parents going out to string the line in the yard.

NEUHAUSER:

Did you walk to school?
MCcNULTY:

Yes, to elementary school, but not to prep school. It was a mile. We walked there
and back and thought nothing of it. It was a lot of fun. In the good weather, you could
roller-skate to school. You took your skates off when you got there. The sidewalks were
a challenge and a problem because they were big slabs of slate mounted together, and
over a period of time they would settle one way or the other, and you had the job of being

sure to get the proper jump. It was not a big jump, but you had to be good at it. All three



of us walked. My sister walked with my younger brother after I started at prep school.
She finished next, and then my brother finished at the elementary school. He used to
complain that he had to walk all by himself.

NEUHAUSER:

Do you have any recollection of the worldwide influenza epidemic of 1918 to
1919? It was estimated that in the United States over one-half million deaths were
associated with it.

McNULTY:

No, I would have been about four or five years old then. I do have memories of
the various communicable diseases that were quarantinable. Quarantine signs had to be
posted.

NEUHAUSER:

Did you get chicken pox?
McNULTY:

Yes.

NEUHAUSER:

Did you have to stay home?
McNULTY:

Yes, I think I did. I don’t recall the relationship to school, but I do recall having
to sit on the porch. Our house then had a large front porch, and there was a little red sign
to keep the rest of the kids away.

NEUHAUSER:

You had to sit there while the children played?



McNULTY:

The street in front of us was paved, and that is where the girls would jump 'rope
and hopscotch. The boys would also play games. One of these games I don’t see any
more. You would bounce a piece of wood with sharp ends up in the air and then swat it.
The contest was to see who could hit it the farthest. I watched that from the porch. This
happened twice. Once was measles. I remember that. Maybe the other was chicken pox.
We were most fortunate and didn’t get the third one, which was scarlet fever. Those were
the three. The health department came around to make sure that you were observing the
quarantine. I don’t know whether there was a system of some type. My recollection was
that it wasn’t the doctor.

NEUHAUSER:

Did your family acquire a radio?
McNULTY:

Oh yes, three things. We had a piano because my mother could play the piano a
little bit. I never was very successful at it. My sister could and still does play piano.
There were two other entertainment items. One was a Victrola. It had a platform and a
cabinet, and you kept the records in the bottom, and you lifted the lid on the top. There
was the turntable and the arm with the needle inside to play the record.

NEUHAUSER:

Was this electric, or did you crank it?

McNULTY:

You cranked it on the side.



NEUHAUSER:

These were 78 rpm records?
MeNULTY:

I guess they were. They were the current records of the 1920s. Maybe that’s the
way to put it. The other item was an early novelty, the radio. A lot of people didn’t have
radios. For things like the heavyweight championship with Jack Dempsey, my dad would
open the window, put the radio on the windowsill, and the neighbors would collect
outside and listen. There were some chairs in the yard, and there were steps going down
té the street, so they would sit on the concrete steps. Whether they brought chairs or not,
I don’t know. Idon’t mean to overstate it. It wasn’t that large of a congregation. Each of
the houses on our block had a 100- to 200-foot frontage, so there would be five or six
houses and about half of them would come to listen.

I don’t have any distinct memory of the first car that I was acquainted with, except
that it was a Stanley Steamer. You went out to the Stanley Steamer, and, if you were
good and careful, you could light whatever it was that heated the water. There was a little
wick as I remember. I don’t remember anything else about it. Our second automobile
was a 1925 Dodge sedan. I remember that because we kept it for many years. I inherited
it and drove it to prep school and to college. It was a novelty. I had little idea of the
value of keeping it forever, and it apparently could have run forever. Interesting piece. It
had a heater in the back that was activated by pulling on the chain, and what that chain
did was divert the exhaust to a little imbedded floor-flush radiator that would heat the car.
The fumes would come in one entrance and go out the other, and thereby heat the interior.

I thought that was a novel idea. And it did an effective job, as I recall.



This car had a solid roof. It had four doors. It’s not pertinent, but I don’t know
what was the reason for changing the way doors are hinged in cars today. I thought the
old ones were much easier to open. I don’t know why they were changed, but they were
easier to get in and out of. Those cars had emergency wheel brakes. You pushed down
as far as you could on the pedal. Then you cranked it. My dad had a starter installed in
the car, which was a blessing, because you didn’t crank it. A prevalent injury at that time
was a broken arm from cranking the car. It would fire back and wound you. Four
cylinders looked simplistic when you lifted the hood. The hood lifted on both sides at
one time and anchored in the middle. When you got a flat, you had to take the tire off and
take the tube out of the tire and repair the tube and put it back into the tire.

There was a drugstore near our house with a soda fountain. You could get a
sundae, or whatever the liquid, with a plunk of ice cream in it. That is where you went
with the prescription to get your medicine. The responsible kids would go and get the
medicine filled and bring it back home. Then, there was the grocery store. If you were
lucky, you could work in the grocery store, and I think you worked Fridays and Saturdays.
If you worked on Fridays when you got out of school and Saturdays, I think you made 50
cents. Maybe 50 cents was high. Maybe it was a quarter. I remember one got paid with
a single coin. You had to develop a certain expertise because of the way you packed
someone’s purchases together. I don’t recall there being any bags. There was wrapping
paper. It came on big wide rolls. The roller had an arm that flapped over and that’s what
you pulled to cut the paper. Mounted above was the cord, which you used to wrap up the
groceries. You would learn how to wrap them up, put the ends together, wrap the string

around, and you always put a handle on it, a wooden handle with hooks at each end.



I’ve always said I had the pleasure of working in the first large grocery store,
which they called a supermarket. When the Depression came, someone got the idea of
putting under one roof all household needs—food, utensils, and ingredients for keeping a
house, powders, soap, and such.

One of the earlier automobile manufacturers by the name of Durant had a plant in
Elizabeth, New Jersey. I don’t know how they got there instead of wherever the other
auto companies collected, but it didn’t last there very long.

Another memory is that once .a month I got 10 cents and three utility bill
envelopes. My sister could go with me. I got on a bus for 10 cents—a nickel there and a
nickel back. My sister’s name was Patricia. She also got 10 cents. We would go into the
commercial part of Elizabeth, and we would pay the water bill, the power bill, and one
other. We paid three bills.

I recall that more vividly than some other things, because, being kids, we didn’t
care what was in an envelope we received, and the person at the counter was terribly
busy.

NEUHAUSER:

They would take the wrong one?
McNULTY:

We would put it there. In that age, everyone was much more cooperative than
today. Iremember the waterworks office had to send someone to the electric place and

say, “No, here’s yours. Do you have mine?” I didn’t look.



NEUHAUSER:

In the 1920s, you must have had ice chests and men who delivered the ice. Did
you have a card that was put in the window that would indicate that ice was requested?
McNULTY:

There was not that service, no. There was an icehouse about eight blocks away in
a shopping area, and it was our responsibility to take the four-wheel wagon, the children’s
wagon, and go get the block of ice. I remember when my brother was a little one, we
would sit him in the wagon, and my sister would either sit in or somehow steer it, and I'd
push, and we’d go get the ice. We thought that was fun. As I remember, the ice was
something like 5 or 10 cents for a block.

NEUHAUSER:

Was it covered with sawdust?
McNULTY:

No. They would put a piece of canvas over it. The icehouse, I remember, had a
big thick door. I don’t recall there being any sawdust, but there may have been. Inside,
the house was cold. The proprietor or worker, whatever, occasionally would let the kids
go in. That was a biggie—to see the ice and see how cold it was. That is how we got our
ice. We did have Duggan’s Bakery. They came around with a horse and cart, and that
was the way the bread was delivered.

NEUHAUSER:

And milk, too?



McNULTY:

And milk. The milkman came around early in a horse and cart. The milk people
had an automobile earlier than the bakery people did. Duggan’s was whole wheat bread.
They were famous for whole wheat bread, which we kids didn’t favor very much, but
that’s what our parents liked. The driver of the Duggan’s wagon on our route was an
amateur boxer. I was interested in boxing. I guess today it’s like perfecting the martial
arts. Then, I was just interested in learning how to defend myself a little better, though I
was tall, maybe taller than lots of my contemporaries, and therefore a little bigger. I was
very skinny, and so I found out that I wasn’t a threat to anybody, and occasionally they
would threaten me. Duggan’s driver would come back to our house at the end of his run
about once or twice a week, and we’d go to the garage and, if the cars were there, push
them out in the driveway. Car, there was only one car. The garage is a whole other story.
He would teach me how to box. It was real fun.

The garage didn’t come with the house. My dad built the garage. There were two
of us kids when it was being built—me and my sister. We said our dad supervised it, and
we built it. We went around and found all the bricks that he was going to put down under
the flooring and before he poured the concrete. Then we helped unload the cinder
blocks—the ones with the two holes in them—that were going to be the base of the side
walls. Then we went with the same wagon to the lumberyard where he had ordered the
lumber. My only recollection was that we had to load it on the cart, and the man told us
we couldn’t do it that way. We could take some of it. We said, we’ll have to come back,
and he said, you’ll have to come back twice. There were a lot of homes that predated the

automobile that didn’t have garages. If they were large enough, sitting on an acre or so,
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they had what we called a livery stable behind them where you kept your horses. We
built the garage, and the garage was where I worked out with the Duggan Bakery driver,
who taught me a little more effectiveness in how to box and how to defend myself.
NEUHAUSER:

In the 1920s, were there typical activities on the weekend?
McNULTY:

Generally, I don’t recall the weekends as a youngster. In late elementary school,
from the fifth to the eighth grade, I started having memories. We would get into the car
on weekends and go to see something or to have a picnic somewhere. Not all weekends,
but many weekends, even in the winter, we would get into the car, hope the road was
clear, and go someplace. We would pile the sleds on top of the car or, when we got a
little older, skis and go sledding or skiing. That was a big weekend. You looked forward
to it. When we boys got older, we played. There seemed to be a lot more games then
than now.

There were community baseball teams. I think they called them semi-pros. You
didn’t get paid anything, but they were supposed to be the best from that particular
community. They usually played on Saturday. You would have a two-game series with
teams from adjacent towns. You would rotate around, and you would play a game on
Saturday afternoon and then another game on Sunday. The Sunday was indefinite
because you couldn’t play baseball in some communities on Sunday. In other
communities you would start to play. I remember being chased away by the police and

the local clergy. It was the Lord’s Day, and you should not be out running around and
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using profanity. My recollection was that profanity was “heck” and occasionally “damn,”
and that was pretty severe profanity.
NEUHAUSER:

You just touched on the Depression. Did you have any recollection of the
Depression?

McNULTY:

Oh, yes, very vivid. I graduated from elementary school in 1929 and from prep
school in 1933. To get to prep school, we rode a trolley car that had a very long run. It
started west of Elizabeth and ran through a number of communities. I mention that
because by the time I got aboard in Hillside, there were already a number of students
aboard. I remember riding to prep school in October or November, and one of the
conversations was how would your parents, your dad, pay the tuition. There was some
concern because that was when there was a tremendous drop in the stock market. The
other memory was that any time you got a chance to go to work, you went to work
concurrent with schooling. Maybe a year later, as a sophomore or junior, I reached 18,
and this was an acceptable age to work.

NEUHAUSER:

After finishing preparatory school?
McNULTY:

No, this was during preparatory school. I don’t think any of the students had
anticipated that one day they would be forced to drop out, and some did. Ihad some

school friends who were on the trolley car ride. We would be on the run every school
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day, and certainly no one had anticipated going to work. Not that it was objectionable; it
just wasn’t in our thoughts.

As soon as [ was an acceptable age, I got a job in the post office during Christmas
holidays and during any other peak period when they would hire temporary help. I
carried mail with a mailbag on the shoulder, but mostly the prep school and college
students who worked part-time were put to work as primary sorters. You sat with a little
stool behind you. You didn’t sit on it. You leaned against it. You got stacks of mail, and
you would pick them up and find out where to put them according to community. If you
were a secondary sorter, the mail would be sorted within the communities by the mail
routes. They were divided by mail route, so you had to know your community. You
would put aside the streets you’d never heard of. Then the mail carriers would come in.
There was a see-through type of sorting bin. The delivery men would pick up all of their
mail from the other side of the bin. If they had a long walk, someone would pick it up
and bundle it. Sometimes there might be four or five bundles for the mailman.

That’s how the Depression impacted. Certainly it impacted on the prep schools,
too. I was trying to remember the names of the two prep schools in New England that we
played baseball against. They don’t come to me immediately. We would have a home
series. We would go there, and they would come here. About my sophomore year, which
would be about 1931 or so, they stopped the annual home and away-from-home series.
We would go there one year, and one year they would come to Elizabeth. That cut down
on transportation and traffic.

I assume one sold one’s books to the next incoming students. I remember a

comment about thick, heavy shoes. Don’t go out and play with your good shoes, because

13



that might be the only pair you might get for a year or two, unless your feet continued to
grow. The other aspect that was quite visible, at least to us, was that my dad went to
work four days a week instead of five. At that point in time, at any rate, we would think
how fortunate we were. There were people around us, not in droves, but enough to make
it noticeable, who couldn’t keep their mortgages up and lost their homes because they lost
their jobs. I remember the impression, don’t go into law. A couple of good ballplayers,
two brothers, moved away from our community because their dad was a lawyer and there
was no more business for him. He was, as I recall, a solo practitioner. The impact was
more emotional. Being young and impressionable, you wondered if dad would be
working three days and then two. People were having the telephones taken out for
nonpayment of their monthly charge. Those who didn’t have phones weren’t putting
them in. It was a period that left impressions in different ways.

Now, Mrs. McNulty tells me I always think I’m in the Depression because of my
frugality. One gets to be like that as a representative of those who lived through the
Depression and were fortunate. Apparently, some of the good fortune of my parents was
due to the fact that they guarded their resources. At four days a week, I remember my dad
taking on one or two consulting jobs. The power companies were extending some of
their power lines. I think he sized the generators and things of that type. Yet, it left an
impression. I don’t want to say I’m overly frugal because I’m not, but I would be more
concerned about spending a dollar. It’s interesting how early experiences shape one’s
continuing life. I don’t think I could ever be a spender. You just didn’t. It had plus
factors. As a student, when social events took place, there might be a beer or two, but

you never got intoxicated because that cost money, and you didn’t have the money.
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NEUHAUSER:

How’s your Latin?
McNULTY:

Latin was a requirement in prep school and in college. Two years of Latin were
required, at least at the Jesuit college that I went to. Two years of Greek were not if you
were a BS student. BA students had two years of Greek and two years of Latin; BS
students had two years of Latin and two years of a foreign language. BA students then
had three languages, Greek, Latin, and whatever, usually French, but some took German,
due to the German communities in the area. My recollection is that there was no Spanish
offered because there was not as much of a Spanish influence then as there is now. New
Jersey was close enough to Canada for many people to vacation there, so French was a
popular subject. I must say that after two years of Greek in prep school I couldn’t read it
today. I recognize some Greek things, but I would be hard-pressed to do any translation
whatsoever. To start with, I never was very good at vocalization. But, one did have to
take Latin and Greek in prep school. The idea was not that you were going to be fluent,
but that many of the English words and words of other languages are derivatives of Latin
and Greek, which were the early languages. As I understood it then, and I think now, the
objective was that I learned the basis of the languages of the European communities.
NEUHAUSER:

I see that you spent a year working between high school and starting college.
McNULTY:

Yes. By the time I was ready to go to college, having graduated, my sister was in

a prep school for girls, and my younger brother would be shortly starting in his high
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school. We thought if you went to prep school you got the best possible education, so the
family decision was that they couldn’t take on the college tuition and transportation and
other related necessities. I wasn’t particularly noble. It was just the mores of the time.
My brother and sister had to get their educations, and I had finished three quarters of
mine, so I could go to work, put away some money, and get started. Maybe it would only
produce enough for one college year. Then I would have to take off and work another
year before going back for another college year. At that time, it was nothing unique. You
just did that.
NEUHAUSER:

Where did you work that year?
McNULTY:

I maintained my post office job because it was one of the better paying jobs. I
would get a call from the post office when there was a big rush, usually about income tax
time, which was earlier then. It was sometime in March.

The Public Service Coordinated Transport was the name of the public
transportation company that ran the trolley cars and the buses in almost all of north New
Jersey. When one got south, into Camden and other places, it was run by a company
located in Pennsylvania. They were always in need of spot drivers, but more important,
they had an engineering department in which they employed checkers. You would get
out on the street and check off the buses as they came by, and I did that. They plotted the
numbers on big charts and read them, I guess. I never did that part of it, so I never did
understand it. They were transportation engineers who did that. I worked at the post

office, and I worked driving a bus.
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NEUHAUSER:

Were they checking to see if the trolleys were on time?
McNULTY:

Yes. I think it was more to schedule the various vehicles or trolley cars. You did
the same with trolleys, only you boarded the trolleys. You counted the passengers, like
giving points. Sometimes there would be transfer points. It was a considerable challenge
for the company to decide how many vehicles to run per hour, how many to run per two
hours, etc. The buses from the Newark terminal, which was headquarters of this public
service company, to the downtown terminal in New York City went through the Holland
Tunnel. So, many times you would be assigned to the Holland Tunnel, and that is where
you would count the loads. They charted these loads to see if the passenger volume was
heavy. If so, they had better increase the number of vehicles, the number of runs, they
would call it, per hour. Ifit was a light load, they could reduce the number of runs and
furlough some of the drivers, which was an economy measure, or transfer those buses
someplace else where they were needed. You couldn’t transfer trolley cars, but you could
put them in the trolley barn and not run them. I think that was the purpose.

Then there were other odd jobs. There were a couple of us kids who got together
and cut lawns and trimmed, and we shoveled snow in the winter. As I mentioned, we did
bag groceries. I think generally there were no full-time jobs available. People worked as
I think the phrase then was “catch-as-catch-can,” and to the more enterprising there were

job opportunities.
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NEUHAUSER:

It sounds as if it took some enterprise to go knock on doors at various places to let
them know you were available to work.
McNULTY:

Yes, and you had to make the rounds, too. The final place I worked was in men’s
furnishings for a department store called Bamberger’s that eventually was purchased by
Macy’s, so it was a Macy’s outlet in Newark, New Jersey. You could get part-time work
more frequently, because you got it around Father’s Day. For two weeks or so, they
would need an extra salesperson to come in and sell shirts. They called them clerks at
that time. You stood behind the counter, and people would come up and you would try to
persuade them that this was the shirt and necktie that they needed.

NEUHAUSER:

These diverse work experiences—did they have some value to you in your later
career?
McNULTY:

Well, I thought so and still think so. Many of these activities, like mail carrying,
clerking in a department store, and driving a bus, subconsciously taught you how to deal
with people, or it honed your people-relating skills. It taught you the value of promptness
and attentiveness, too. I don’t want to make it sound noble, but attentiveness to the job at
hand. It taught you the value of a dollar. You learned very quickly when you got that 25
cents or 50-cent piece, gee, that isn’t very much. I can’t do much with this. You could
do much more with it then than now, but still, you wouldn’t retire on it. Those are three

lessons that I believe helped me. I hope it helped my children because, when they were
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young, we set up criteria. They carried newspapers, not that they had to, but the
neighborhood needed a newspaper boy and girl. When our daughter got old enough,
being the assertive 12-year-old, she wanted a piece of the reward. She would get up with
her brother at 5:00, and they would deliver papers together on a bicycle or walk,
depending on the weather. I never queried them as to if it taught them any lessons, but
after this interview, I think I will. I thought it helped me, and I thought they liked it in the
sense that anyone likes what they have to do, as opposed to what else might be available
to do. I think that was another dimension. Our grandchildren, the dad and boy, have
already been talking about when does he get a paper route. He wants to buy a Nintendo.
Is that what you call those games?

NEUHAUSER:

Skipping a little, being an actuary is a mathematical activity, and I see for you that
was a specialty in college. You must have been comfortable with numbers.
McNULTY:

Yes. Ienjoyed them as much as one enjoys schooling as a young kid or a young
man. My dad was mathematically oriented and for whatever reason I didn’t aspire to
engineering, but I wouldn’t want to overstate it. Actually, at the Prudential in the actuary
department, you did a number of other things before you really got to be a calculator of
risks and rates and so on.

NEUHAUSER:

Being an actuary is a long drawn-out process.
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McNULTY:

Yes, it was. Now it takes 11 examinations. It was 10 when I was at Prudential. It
was usually a minimum of five to seven years, which was desirable also, because they
would put you on job training and different assignments. My time was very short with
them. It was late 1938 to 1941, so it was roughly two years plus. I only had one
assignment and that was in the clause-writing part of the actuary department. At that time
in the late 1930s, an important part of insurance contracts of sufficient amount was
settlement options. Prudential developed a series of options and ways of combining
them. This required an addendum to the basic contract. This was the work of the
settlement options division of the actuary department, which is where I spent time. At the
same time, it became possible to draw down money against life insurance policies, and so
there were subsections working on this. There were groups that wrote the various
settlement options, groups that wrote the contracts for so much money. A whole group of
college graduates worked on this.

NEUHAUSER:

That sounds like it fits more with your legal career. In the evening, you were
going to law school. That sounds like contract writing.
McNULTY:

This section of the actuary department was headed up by an actuary. There was
an assistant who also was an actuary, but there were group leaders who were attorneys.
There weren’t that many. There were two as I recall. This was a section of the actuary
department that had about 50 people in it. There was a lot of supervision needed for 50

people. Someone had to review every clause that was written before it was given to the
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underwriters to recommend or transmit. So that’s what prompted me to think of law.
How to continue to develop oneself was the question, as I remember. My dad thought I
ought to take more mathematics, which would have been possible. There was and still is
a very distinguished, but not too well recognized nationally, engineering school in Jersey
City called Stevens Institute. One could pursue math there. The other choice was to go
to law school. Some students, some of the clause writers I guess is the way to put it, took
English at the Newark college. That wasn’t the name of it, but there was a local college,
which today might be equivalent to a community college. Those were the three avenues
if one wanted to pursue more education.

The actuary division of that insurance company, and I’m told of all insurance
companies, actually set an atmosphere that encouraged learning. There were no criteria.
Educationally though, you might be asked how you’re doing. You’d get an interview
twice a year because you were supposed to be a student in insurance. You were kept
intellectually challenged. They wanted to know what are you doing to prosper yourself
and for this company?

Of the three paths to further education, I thought the law would be the most
interesting. There was a local extension of Rutgers University that had started out in the
early 1910s as a law school, six or eight blocks away, just a short walk. In good weather,
that is where I would go. You could take a bus to get there. Yes, that is what prompted
me to go into law. I liked it because I thought it offered other opportunities. It was a
broader field than just mathematics, a broader field than just English, and, if I recall

correctly, I had been most comfortable with Prudential and could see it as a lifelong
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employment. But if I didn’t like it, I wanted some flexibility so I could do something
else.
NEUHAUSER:

Did you tell me it was your liking of Prudential that got you into the Army?

It was part of the progression of a career there. Prudential expected a tour of duty in the
Army.
McNULTY:

I don’t know whether that was the tone of the department. I had no recollection of
that because some of my colleagues divided the students, so to speak, into classes, and
they hired six or eight at any one time in any one year. My class was the class of 1938.
Not all those seven or eight necessarily went to clause writing. Three or four of us were
assigned there. Of those three or four, my number came up. They said, “You don’t want
a deferment?” I said no. I wanted to do it and get it over with. Some of the others took a
deferment, so I don’t think there was any particular pressure to go and do it. I don’t mean
to imply a great deal of self-credit, but I thought I would go ahead and get it done. One
was always competing with other classmates. How to get one up? One way was to
follow the example of the founder of this great insurance company. It was at that time,
and maybe still is, the second largest insurance company. Lloyd’s of London,
Metropolitan, and Prudential—the three largest insurance companies in the English-
speaking world. I think the founder was in the cavalry. I couldn’t get in there. All this
had a little to do with my getting into the military service.

The military service was initially for the purpose of complementing my work.

Not only did one get a leave of absence, one also got paid a small percentage of what one
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made as a salary. Nevertheless, it was a token of support for military service. I think
Prudential thought of it that way and that was the generous part. There was also a selfish
part, because there was an incentive feature so that when you finished, you wouldn’t go
join Metropolitan. You’d go back to Prudential.
NEUHAUSER:

Was Prudential where you learned about writing health insurance?
McNULTY:

Only very small policies. At least at Prudential and maybe some more during the
war. I was away, so I don’t know. I would say 98 percent of the business then was life
insurance business. In fact, it was various types of life insurance that no longer exist.
Prudential was the largest insurance company in the world with industrial insurance.
Industrial insurance, I don’t quite recall or maybe never did know how it got its name, but
that insurance policy was paid on a weekly basis. An agent went around house to house
to collect the payment.

NEUHAUSER:

Ten cents a week, or whatever it used to be.
McNULTY:

A small amount. My recollection is of two agents who came to our house. My
parents had this insurance. This was a respectable job. They did sell insurance; they tried
to get you to take more, but the primary task was to collect the money on the industrial
policy. That might have paid out for $500 or $1,000 at that time. As I recall, it was a lot
of money, a lot of insurance money. Today, insurance salesmen have a certain aura that

is not disgraceful, but they are viewed as hustlers. At that time, they were good, solid
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members of the community, and they went around every week, I think, and collected the
money. And, if you had an extra child in the family, of course, they were there to suggest
that you needed $200 more of coverage for little Sally, little Susie, or little Johnny.

Prudential was the largest company selling this product. Metropolitan sold some,
but not very much. In that way, these agents made a contribution. There was a folklore
that John Dryden, a gentleman who had been with Theodore Roosevelt’s Rough Riders,
had a feel for people who needed insurance and couldn’t afford it any other way than to
pay in small amounts on a regular collection basis. Then they would buy it, and they did.
His theory was that they wouldn’t miss it. Of course, they missed it, but they did set up a
routine that made it possible for people to have this insurance.

NEUHAUSER:

I understand that wages were frozen during World War II and only fringe benefits
were allowed to expand. War-related industries like Kaiser added on employee benefits,
such as paying for life and health insurance. This would end the era of the agent
knocking on the door. The company would have done the equivalent of collecting the
dime every week.

McNULTY:

Knocking on the door reminds me of the change in the values. If the family was
going to be away, the home manager, who in my time was always the mother, would put
the money in the mailbox. In our neighborhood, the mailbox was attached to the house.
It wasn’t one that sits out in front. It was metal and the top lifted up. They would puta

little note and the money in the mailbox. People all around didn’t think anything of it.
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Nobody would think about going up and taking the money out of the mailbox except the
insurance man.
NEUHAUSER:

You were inducted, went to Fort Dix, and then to a training center for 90 days in
Fort Lee, and then Turner Field, Albany, Georgia. Then the war started. Because you
went into the Army before the start of the war, this gave you seniority when the millions
of other soldiers came later.

McNULTY:

Yes. Plus, the needs were entirely different at that time. Everything was
just—the phrase is gearing up—and there was a lot of opportunity. One got Wednesday
afternoon off, and you could go into the local community. The Prudential Life Insurance
Company was a great mother to her employees. She paid her peacetime draftees. You
didn’t get your full salary, but you got something—I forget what it was. It was a very
nominal amount, but yet it was a very thoughtful gesture.

One got into the draft by picking a number—or I think you didn’t pick it, it was
assigned to you by random assignment of all eligible males ages 18 to maybe 50. Then,
the list was reduced due to marriage, family, the priesthood, being a rabbi, or whatever.
They were all deferred. Individuals who were not married and going to law school at
night didn’t count. Being in the actuary department would have counted, but I decided
not to exercise it because I was going to be out in a year, and then I was going to be ahead
a year of all those bums who were exercising their deferment. I’d like to pretend that it
was really patriotic, but I had other motives. But, on the other hand, I did look forward to

the Army. I thought it would be interesting and different. It’s a different experience.
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NEUHAUSER:

You went in in 1941 before Pearl Harbor, December 7, 19417
McNULTY:

Right. If Irecall correctly, on December 7, I was still at Fort Lee, Virginia. No, I
take that back. I don’t know where I was.
NEUHAUSER:

And in Albany, Georgia, your activities were helping manage the hospital?
McNULTY:

Well, during the enlisted period, all I did was whatever the administration wanted.
I worked in the company commander’s office for awhile. I worked in the registrar’s
office for a while taking in new patients and so on. That is when I applied to Officer
Candidate School (OCS). Well, with good humor, I applied to all of the important OCSs
and got assigned to the medical administration OCS in Texas. There were two of those. I
mention this in passing, only because the one in Pennsylvania was quite historic: Carlisle
Barracks. No reason you should know it, but if you’ve been in the military, that’s quite
an historic location for medicine. Not necessarily for medical administration currently.
But they were turning out classes so large that they set up another site in Texas. And
there you spent another 90 days learning how to be an officer.
NEUHAUSER:

And those people were known as 90-day wonders?
McNULTY:

Ninety-day wonders, yes. It was an apt term. For whatever reason, I got shipped

to Maxwell Field, Montgomery, Alabama. I went there from the OCS. And there I was
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the registrar of the hospital, then the commanding officer of the medical battalion—that’s
enlisted men—company commander, I guess you’d call it, then adjutant of the hospital,
and then executive officer of the hospital. And it was from there that I got called to
Washington. One never applied for anything. Suddenly in the mail you received orders.
In 10 days you were due to be at Bowling Field, Washington, DC. That was the base that
housed many of the officers who worked in the Pentagon, at least the Army Air Corps
officers. Others got housed at Walter Reed, or housed at the National Naval Medical
Center.

I was debating what to do, in terms of a career. I had been in the actuary
department of the Prudential Life Insurance Company before World War II. In fact,
actuaries were exempt from the draft, along with essential categories, such as some
physicians and some lawyers. However, the founder of the Prudential, a man by the name
of Dryden, had gone up San Juan Hill with Teddy Roosevelt, but I understand that’s
historically not the name of it. So there was somewhat of a military ambiance, I guess
you’d say, in the Prudential. I thought I’d go in and get my military service finished, and,
at that time you went in, you put in a year, and you came out. And then that would put
me one or two up on some of my competitors who were trying to be the next generation’s
chief actuary for Prudential and/or any other insurance company, because Prudential’s
department used to get raided quite a bit by the other companies when they needed new
actuaries. But, in any event, I was debating about going back there.

Before World War II, I had completed two years of law school, going nights.
Should I go into law? I had been fortunate to be the commander of medical troops, so I

was wondering should I go into management? Or thinking of the experience as the
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executive officer at Maxwell, should I go into hospital administration? Well, for better or
for worse—for better as it turns out—I decided to go into hospital administration, if I
could get advice that it was a worthwhile field. When I was in the South, I heard about
the American Hospital Association and was told that periodically the director of the AHA
came to Washington, and he would be pleased to meet with me if I could pick a
convenient location. So I met with George Bugbee on Pennsylvania Avenue, in what
right now is the heart of George Washington University. That’s where the AHA’s rented
quarters were at that time. I met with George, and he gave me the minuses and the
pluses. I always remember him as a remarkable gentleman. He didn’t try to tell me it
was the worst profession or it was the best profession. He told me what I might be able to
expect and that I ought to get some tickets. The fact that I was fairly proficient in
mathematics wasn’t going to convince many boards that I knew a hospital.

When I decided to go into that field, I started to look around. Where could I go to
school? Northwestern, at that time, was the only evening and night program. I went
there in late 1946 or early 1947—too late to start. I had a little struggle getting out of the
Army, but finally we got someone trained to succeed me who was going to stay on and
apply for the regular Army. At that time, the Air Force was the Army Air Corps. It
wasn’t until 1948 or 1949, I think, that it got to be a separate service.

Then I had the opportunity of joining the Veterans Administration (VA). It was
with the agreement that I’d spend a little time in Washington, but I wanted to get sent out
because, at that time, the VA was establishing—or Hawley and General Bradley were

establishing—regional offices. They were anticipating an influx of great
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demand—correctly, as it turned out—for all of the services that the VA offered, of which
health was perhaps the major one, but they offered many other services, too.

And so they decided to divide the country into 13 regions, and they called them 13
branches, and there was one branch set up in Chicago. So I exercised my persuasion with
Dr. Hawley and said that’s where I want to go. In each of these branch offices, they had a
medical director—a director of medical administration. And so I was able to go to
Chicago as assistant, not director. A long-time VA employee was made director of
medical administration, which is as it should have been. But I got the slot as assistant,
and so I went there and then enrolled in Northwestern.

That was my break. The other break was getting into the military hospital field: I
enjoyed Maxwell Field, Montgomery, and prior to that I had been at several locations as
an enlisted person, as a clerk. The way I got into the medical department in the military
service was as follows: I applied for everything else and then they posted the names on
the board, and I was sent to a medical replacement training center. It wasn’t until I cooled
down some years later that I discovered that I was sent there with no malice aforethought.
They needed 30 people to go there. The fact that I said I’d like to get into the intelligence
or the adjutant general’s office, or I could ride a horse and get into the cavalry, didn’t
make a bit of difference. They put it all down on a piece of paper and asked themselves
now where is the call for? How many do we have here? How many are in this induction
center? Oh, there’s 30 of them here. McNulty is one of them. That’s it.
NEUHAUSER:

The Army has a reputation of working in just that way.
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McNULTY:

As the Army was building up its forces, masses of inductees were coming in.
They had enough people for the infantry, and they had enough for their other needs.

They didn’t have enough for health care. I was sent to a medical replacement training
center. It was fun. I learned more about the human body than I wanted to know. It was
useful, and I didn’t want to be just a corpsman.

NEUHAUSER:

Medical replacement. Does that mean you were replacing a physician?
McNULTY:

No, I think it means that you were sent there to be trained as a replacement,
because that’s what happened. The medical replacement training center was in Fort Lee,
Virginia.

NEUHAUSER:

Maxwell must have been one of the larger hospitals within the whole military.
McNULTY:

Maxwell? It was the largest Army Air Corps hospital. The old line, regular Army
hospitals were 1,000 or more beds by the time World War II started to peak out. Maxwell
was part of the Southeastern Training Command. There were about eight states covered
by that training command. There were a number of smaller airfields in South Carolina,
Georgia, Florida, Mississippi, and Alabama. They had what were called station hospitals.
They were usually 70 beds, which seemed to be the model. These hospitals could be put
up in a hurry; some had up to 100 beds with tent extensions. Serious injuries were sent to

Maxwell Field.
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NEUHAUSER:

And in those days the requirement for discharge from the hospital was to be fit to
return to active duty.
McNULTY:

Oh, yes. Idon’t believe we ever discharged anyone who could not stand up.
NEUHAUSER:

It was said patients stayed a little longer in a military hospital.

McNULTY:

At that time, there were very few malingerers. Everybody wanted to get out and
get back to their outfit. The patients enjoyed the presence of the nurses. They were fun
to kid with, but the nurses went to the nurses’ residence at night.

NEUHAUSER:

It strikes me as a different style of care, compared to a hospital of the 1980s and
1990s, when there is such a rush to get people in and out quickly.
McNULTY:

Well, I don’t recall any sense of patients getting out in a hurry. I recall a sense of:
we’re going to do what we can with you, and we think we can cure your broken bones,
and when that happens you’ll be discharged back to your duty, or to wherever your
jacket—your enlisted jacket—happens to be sent. Of course, your outfit could have gone
overseas. At that time, a number of the smaller airbases were combining some of their
squadrons with others, and they were sent over to Scotland. They were doing some of
their flight training in Scotland, and a little later in the war, they were sent over to Italy

and to the 12th Air Force replacements there. You knew you were going back to duty,
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hopefully with your outfit—90 percent of the cases returned to their outfit. Patients were
usually sent back with orders indicating that they were fit for duty, but often they were
not supposed to lift heavy equipment for fear of reinjuring themselves. In retrospect, it
was a very effective system. It worked.

Maxwell had been a station hospital. It was not small by the standards of that
time. It had had about 200 beds. There had always been a cadet training center on the
base, so the barracks were very sturdy. They just cleared troops out of all the adjacent
barracks, built up the walkways adjoining them, and that’s how the hospital expanded
into 1,000 and more beds.

Maxwell was an old World War I base. It had stucco Spanish architecture. It was
really nice. You could make walkways of stucco, plaster it up, and do it pretty quickly.
That’s the way they connected the barracks to the main building. The main building was
reserved for surgery and some orthopaedics. The prison ward was in the basement of that
building. The laboratory was in the main building. Radiology, physical therapy (such as
it existed at that time), and medicine were in the other buildings. It was a long walk to
inspect the hospital, but it worked out very well.

NEUHAUSER:

I suppose men with tuberculosis didn’t get into the Army.
McNULTY:

Usually they didn’t. They all were x-rayed, of course, in their induction centers.
There was great concern about malaria, given that we were in the South. Malaria was

endemic. It was in the mosquito population.
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You could tell who were the malaria patients; they looked pale and yellow. They
put up mosquito bars and nets on all the bunks. It was a great precaution because we
never had a malaria epidemic. There were isolated cases transmitted by the mosquitos.
Florida was a bad location, particularly the northern part. In Louisiana, camps were
located near the swamps. Times have changed. Today in Mississippi, I don’t experience
any more mosquito difficulty than I did in New Jersey where I was born and raised.
When you went to the shore in New Jersey, you always took the stuff you plastered all
over yourself to try to keep the mosquitos away. Then it was only because they were
pests, not because they were disease carriers.

NEUHAUSER:

How did you get from there to your Pentagon position?
McNULTY:

The military service came first. I was inducted in a place called Fort Dix in New
Jersey. You were processed there. You got some more physicals, you got your uniform,
you got your shoes, and you got all the things you were supposed to keep as your personal
things for as long as they lasted. Then you got sent to some training center. There was at
least one training center, if not more, for each branch of the service. I got assigned, as I
mentioned earlier, to a medical replacement training center at Fort Lee, Virginia.
Usually, to my recollection, you spent about 90 days there, then you got an assignment to
a base, to a camp, or to a fort.

NEUHAUSER:

What did you do at the Pentagon?
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McNULTY:

At the Pentagon, I started off with a lesser assignment, but eventually I was in the
division of the Air Force Surgeon General’s office that processed all types of
retirements—retirements generally for medical reasons. I guess you’d say I was in the
administrative arm of the Air Force Surgeon General’s office. At that time, we were very
active in the retirement business. The war was over, and there were a number of
individuals with disabilities that did not preclude them from active duty in a modified
way, but did prevent them staying on for the rest of their life in the military.

I only sat in on two meetings with General Omar Bradley, but I remember his
style, which was to start the meeting, “Would you please proceed?” And only once do 1
remember his suggesting that this was not the place to espouse (no, it was some word
similar to that) your disagreement. He said it like this: “Duncan, this is not the place to
espouse your disagreement with McNulty. Please do that elsewhere. Now, do you have a
contribution to make?”

NEUHAUSER:

He spoke in that mild, even tone?
McNULTY:

That’s right. I learned early that shouting may be more rationalization than it is
contribution. Certainly General Bradley spoke in this measured, calm tone. Then you
paused a little, thought about his background, and thought, well, I better obey or he’s

going to take me out and shoot me.
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NEUHAUSER:

Well, T have this naive belief from the long distance that someone very senior in
the Army like that would be accustomed to command tens of thousands.
McNULTY:

Well, you have got it, and I tried to cultivate it in various chairmanships that I was
privileged to exercise. He projected command. He would say, “I appreciate your
contribution, but this is not the place to contribute it.” In relation to a disagreement
between two physicians, he said, “Dr. X, I suggest that you do it elsewhere.”
NEUHAUSER:

It sounds to me from the little I know of Eisenhower’s style that it, too, was a very
quiet one, and I would guess that Marshall’s was also.

McNULTY:
Yes. Yes.
NEUHAUSER:

I wonder whether this group of people had a similar style?
McNULTY:

I speculated about it after hearing General Bradley in the Pentagon. I attended
only as an aide to the Air Force Surgeon General on one occasion—a meeting at which
General Marshall—George Catlett Marshall—presided. And I didn’t speculate then, but
he had somewhat the same quiet, but very authoritative, style.

NEUHAUSER:

The Pentagon has five sections?
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McNULTY:

The Air Force was in Section V. You went there and sat and waited for 10 or 11
of them to come out and say, “We’re ready. Let’s go to the meeting.” If the head had a
bundle of papers, I’d have the aide carry the papers, and we would go to the meeting.
NEUHAUSER:

Would you sit in a chair behind the person you were assisting?

McNULTY:

You stood a distance behind.
NEUHAUSER:

You stood?

McNULTY:
Stood, yes, stood.
NEUHAUSER:

And then the senior was sitting at the table?
McNULTY:

That’s right. At least at this one meeting, I stood. The meetings weren’t that
long. They gain a folklore with time. I’'m told that General Marshall had a policy that if
the meeting was more than an hour, it was a waste of time. And the closer it was to a half
hour, the better a meeting it was. Everybody should come prepared, know the subject
matter, know what they were supposed to address on the subject matter, and do it
succinctly in one paragraph, preferably one sentence. It was the aide to General Marshall

who explained all these things to you. He was a very fine gentleman—he was in the
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regular Army—and, if you were a new aide, he would take you aside and tell you these
things. The aides never talked.
NEUHAUSER:

Probably that style spread to people like Bradley and then to others.
McNULTY:

I wanted to come back to that because I often wondered if there was a curriculum
at West Point on how to preside at meetings and address staff. I don’t know. I just often
wondered because there was Marshall and there was Eisenhower. At Maxwell Field
Southeastern Training Command, there was a Colonel Hasdro, who had been a regular
Army West Point graduate who’d gone on to medicine, and he had the same approach to
a meeting. Oh, I met with him many times as a representative of the surgeon (the
commanding officer of the hospital), but at Maxwell you got to sit in the chair. He had
the same approach—very, very measured, very dispassionate, and objective.
NEUHAUSER:

Knowing nothing about them other than just a little bit of reading, it’s hard for me
to imagine someone like General Patton, or Stilwell in China, having a similar style. I
can imagine that they’d be rather different people.

McNULTY:

Yes, I would think so. I don’t know about—what was he called—Vinegar Joe
Stilwell. But Patton, by folklore, enjoyed a reputation established as a cadet. He was an
oddball. He was always in trouble, but so exceedingly capable that the trouble was

tolerated—I was going to say dismissed. It wasn’t dismissed, but it was tolerated, and I
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understand that he and General Eisenhower had great communication with each other.
General Eisenhower, and certainly General Marshall, had a high regard for him.

At the Pentagon, there were always people preparing to come in and preparing to
depart. It was over a three-year period. There was an annual reception that Marshall
would go to for field grade officers, and another annual reception for noncommissioned
officers that his office would schedule and hold. I never attended one of those—I’m told
that he would be the only officer present. All the others would be noncommissioned
officers. This was unusual in my limited military experience. At the reception, he would
shake everyone’s hand. He would wear a formal uniform, but he didn’t wear white
gloves.

NEUHAUSER:

There must have been a lot of people at these receptions.
McNULTY:

And how he got time to do all of those things I don’t know. He was coordinating
military action on two fronts—I mean in the European front and the Asiatic front. On one
of the fronts, the coordination was a little difficult. This is all scuttlebutt. I don’t know,
Douglas MacArthur was his own boss, so to speak. You talk of management style, one of
my great learning experiences was to just listen to the folklore with regard to General
Marshall, to watch General Bradley in operation, and to speculate what sort of
educational background produced individuals who could rise in this time of need.
General Patton, in whatever way he did it, rose to the need. And the system seems to
continue to produce leaders. The present chief of staff, General Powell, and Norman

Schwartzkoff.
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Schwartzkoff, who was exceedingly capable, is more on the Patton sfyle than on
the Eisenhower/Bradley style. It’s the problem of the chicken and the egg. Do the armed
services academies attract these types of people, or do they educate them to be this way?
These unusual individuals apply to West Point. The Navy has done the same thing. So
one could say that this country is blessed in that regard.

Being blessed doesn’t relate to management style, but you asked about my
management style. I do not have any set of principles tabulated on paper, carved in wood
or stone. ButI do have a set of beliefs. One of them I’ve already indicated, emulating
individuals. I tried to absorb some of the style and practice some of the style that I
learned in the Veterans Administration and learned earlier in the military. By that, I don’t
mean the style of military discipline. I mean the ability to capture the attention of
individuals.

In the military, I was a commanding officer of a large detachment for a while.

I captured the attention of the soldiers in that detachment. I captured the loyalty of the
first sergeant who was more closely related to the troops, much more intimately than I
was. I have tried to recognize in any setting—military or otherwise: What are the
surroundings? What is the climate? What is the culture? I would repeat the need to
determine the culture when you start to sit on a committee or on a board, or become an
officer. I’ve been privileged to be an officer of half a dozen organizations. Their cultures
varied. I was the president of the National League for Nursing. That culture was entirely
different than being the Regent for the College [American College of Healthcare
Executives] in the southeastern region of the country. The culture of the Forum for

Health Care Planning was also much different. When I refer to culture, I am talking
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about interests, practices, and precedents. I’m not talking about the broad sociological
culture. Certainly, learning the culture of Birmingham, Alabama, was a necessity if I was
to be accepted and be successful as a leader of a hospital that badly needed leadership.
That didn’t mean that I would succeed because it badly needed leadership.

My predecessor there, I’'m sure, was as smart as I was in terms of knowing that it
needed something. He had an inability to deliver it, and I would always, as a
management practice, try to study the predecessor in the office. At Georgetown, my
predecessor as the executive vice president for the medical center (before the chancellor
title was bestowed on me) was a Jesuit priest who was a superb biologist and had many
publications. He was within the history and culture of that organization and that religious
order. He’s now dead, but he was a delightful gentleman. He said, “I didn’t know
anything about this position.” He said, “In the Jesuit order, what you do is pick up your
extra habit so you have a change of clothes, and then you report to wherever you’re
supposed to report.” He said this when I took over the medical center. He was a grand
gentleman.

So what are management practices? What is management style? In my opinion, it
is a set of beliefs. It is the ability to exercise those beliefs, an ability to recognize the
climate in which they will be exercised, and an ability to convince others that they are
important in terms of the organization, be it a large medical center or a large detachment
of troops.

I’m a workaholic, maybe to the extreme. Therefore, I need to have a style that
modifies my extreme and recognizes that not everybody’s going to work that hard, but

that also tries to instill a sense of hard work at whatever pace you want to do it. There’sa

40



minimum pace in the commercial world. You’re paid for eight hours; eight hours with an
hour off for lunch. I always used to try to instill the criteria by saying eight hours, an hour
off for lunch, and during the lunch hour think some about the job and what you’re going
to do after you get back after lunch. Workaholic—it’s probably a management style.

I inherited my style from both my parents. My father’s life was as an electrical
engineer for the telephone companies—AT&T, and then New Jersey. I didn’t mention
that my mother had some of the same characteristics. She was either the first, or among
the first—I"ve never documented it—women chief operators in the Bell Telephone
System. I’ve mentioned it once or twice to people who are knowledgeable, and they’ve
said yes. Others have said no, that there was somebody else. In any event, up until that
time the chief operator was male. This was in the early 1910s.

NEUHAUSER:

The telephone companies had big rooms with switchboards and phones and lots of
operators. She presided over one of these rooms full of people?
McNULTY:

It was a responsible job. Now it’s all mechanized, of course, and computerized.
From parents and then from schooling, I found that if you worked and studied, you didn’t
have much free time, so you worked hard—at least if you wanted some reasonable
grades. And so hard work was one of the criteria I would have as part of my management
style.

Another was organization. Organization, first of one’s own life. In talking to
students, I used to try to simplify it by saying you ought to give some thought to

organizing and then routine; develop the habit pattern of how to get to work. Where are
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you going to work if you walk? If you ride, how are you going to ride? Is it public
transportation? If you drive, where are you going to put the car? These seem to be silly
applications of organization, but they’re the simplistic ones. If you can do the simplistic
ones, you can usually do the more complicated ones. That is practicing thoroughness of
organization. I don’t just say I’m going to grab the bus to get there. What bus are you
going to grab? Be thorough about it. Where are you going to get that bus if it’s snowing
in Washington, DC, or if it’s raining in Birmingham?

One overriding management principle I always try to practice myself, and preach,
is integrity. Certainly, integrity related to financial responsibilities, but also the integrity
of simply keeping one’s word. If one were to give an overly simplistic example, in a
hospital, on occasion, you run into a colleague. “Oh, I haven’t seen you in a while.”
“No, my mother died, or my father died, or my wife died. We buried him or her in such a
location.” “Oh, too bad.” The only thing I knew to say beyond that is, “I’ll say a prayer
for them.” In this example, for me, integrity means that I have to say the prayer. If1 said
to someone I was going to say a prayer, I have to say a prayer. This is not to say that
occasionally I wouldn’t enlarge on some facts for a purpose of either illustration or fun. I
would try, and I think I succeeded, not to enlarge on the facts for the purpose of gain, for
the purpose of envy—either personal gain or institutional gain. Integrity was very
important.

As a management style, I tried to set high standards of integrity, performance, and
consideration for others, at least starting with colleagues. I never used the approach of
General Bradley that this is not the time or place and would you please either now or later

work out your problem with your colleague outside.
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In the VA, pressure was applied by saying that there’s an opening in Minot, North
Dakota, the famous place. There was a VA station in Minot—it used to be an Air Force
airbase. It was like being threatened to be sent to the salt mines. In the VA, it was Minot,
North Dakota. The message was transmitted that surely you can start to get along
because you don’t have enough winter underwear. The novice would say what do you
mean? It’s cold in Minot, North Dakota. But as I say, I insisted on a high degree of
integrity. I don’t say that in any sense of Puritan philosophy. If one is going to
accomplish change (the continued de\.relopment of the activity), one first has to set a
confidence level so that colleagues have confidence in what he says he’ll do, and in what
he asks to be done.

I have always been, as a style, long on explanations. In terms of this interview,
you’ve probably gained that knowledge pretty quickly, and at this point of our
conversation, it’s probably ad nauseam.

NEUHAUSER:

Not at all.
McNULTY:

I believe in outlining what we would like to do or are planning to do. AmIa
stickler? No, that’s too strong a term. I’'m an advocate of planning in any setting that
I’ve been in. That was true at the National League for Nursing. I took over. When I was
president-elect, I tried to meet with the staff officials and tried to determine what they
thought were the priorities. What should I set as my priorities, and how will we go about
planning to accomplish those priorities? As I mentioned to you, at that point in time,

collegiate nursing education was a crying issue for the National League and for the
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American Nurses Association. We developed a plan and revised it on a periodic basis.
By that I don’t mean that we all sat down in a formal coat-and-tie or dress meeting; we
reviewed pretty quickly how were we doing. It might even be a corridor conversation in
terms of one of our objectives. My approach is to establish a plan, then set the objectives
as a result of the plan, then outline in more detail how those objectives would be realized,
and then create a report card to show how we are doing on a periodic basis.

I do like a formalized set of standards of what we’re going to do, why we’re going
to do it, how we’re going to do it, and who’s going to do it. More important than
reviewing the plan is a constant reappraisal of who is doing it and are they doing it. 1
always felt that in many cases it is important to be a chief executive who walks about. By
this I do not mean racing up and down the corridors. It is important to be seen outside the
inner sanctum of one’s office or the conference room. You may not say anything, and no
one may say anything to you or to me, but the staff do see that you have enough interest
in their activity that you come around to see. You find out many strange things at times
when you walk around. I think of the early days at Alabama when I saw paint peeling off
the wall and other things of that type that were not reported to me. Why are you going to
report to the administrator that the paint is peeling off the wall? But if you walk, you can
see it. You start to ask questions. You then want to ask the housekeeping person on that
floor, “Why is the paint peeling off the wall?” You usually get a very prompt answer. “I
don’t know. I’m not the painter.” But then you’d progress either laterally or up and
down to the next level in the hierarchy. You go to the nursing station. Why? They

didn’t know.
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So that is the walking around management style. It’s been dramatized in the film
where the fellow from Australia [Crocodile Dundee] comes to America. The doorman of
the hotel asks him what is he going to do. I’m going to do “a walkabout.”
NEUHAUSER:

That is an Australian phrase?

McNULTY:

Yes. At times, just by asking the question, you accomplish a lot. I use the
peeling paint as an example because it’s a factual one. In that instance, walking around
identified a problem and contributed a solution. It got people working on the problem.

Just walking around, visibility is what I used to call it, is most desirable because it
is so easy for someone who does a job every day to become isolated intellectually. Not
isolated—they’re mixing with people all the time—but isolated intellectually. “Gee, is
what I’m doing important?” Or, “No one pays any attention to me.” In doing so, you
have to be fair. This is also true for parents and their children. I used to preach that if
you’re going to play with your son, you’d better be sure to then stop and play with your
daughter, because if you don’t, at that young age, it gets translated into “Daddy doesn’t
love me.” At an older age, it gets translated into “He pays more attention to my brother
and doesn’t pay any attention to me.”

And so, visibility, in my book, is an important element of management. Lots of
times you can’t be touring the floors every day. You have other things to do.

Let’s get back to the element of organization. You can organize your time, or
time can be organized for you. I would always tell my secretary where I was going and

report in when I came back. I charged her with keeping a schedule for me. Particularly in
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a large building complex like University Hospitals of Alabama, Birmingham, it was her
job, and I would tell her so. She was to tell me where I had not yet been.

I think a number of people thought I was crazy. One group of people who did not
was the medical staff. Here’s somebody who thinks it’s important to visit the place
where we work, and more important, the place where we put our patients. We want a
tone of excellence from the associated or ancillary staff, and an administrator who is
going to insist that it be there. From that day, they were very much in favor of walking
about this way.

Shall I close this discussion? You may have questions. Those would be a few
aspects of my management style. They are not written, not documented on paper or in
steel, but principles developed over a period of time that I would apply in different
settings, at any voluntary office or any commission or any extramural committee. This
style got to be a habit. By the time I reached Georgetown—I will close on this note—I
was fortunate in applying those principles and getting a lot of recognition from various
disciplines. As a result, I picked up an accolade from those few who thought highly of
me, not from the thousands who did not. It was printed in the medical school bulletin.
“McNulty is a renaissance individual. He’s at ease in dentistry, he’s at ease in nursing,
he’s at ease in. . .” I didn’t know anything about dentistry, but I did get elected to their
honorary national fraternity because I paid attention to them. “He’s at ease at the
Chamber of Commerce; he’s at ease at community activities.” I didn’t participate in
other disciplines for the sake of participating. I participated because I enjoyed it, because
when given a charge, I was able to execute the charge by using my ingrown standards of

management that have a broad generic application.
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NEUHAUSER:

That’s very much reflected in your career. You were involved in many different
organizations and professions.
McNULTY:

I found it stimulating to participate in different things. One gets elected president
or an officer of various activities somewhat in relation to the interest and the time one
puts in on it. I would be selective. I didn’t have all the time in the world. Let me use the
National League for Nursing as an example. It was a strange place for a nonnurse, a
male, and certainly an oddity in the sense of being the only such person who had been
president of it. I did it because I found it interesting, I found it challenging, and I
apparently contributed, using administrative principles that, as I say, were second nature
for me, not written down, but developed over time—developed from parents, developed
from educational experiences.

Dr. Malcolm MacEachern presided over our Saturday morning sessions at
Northwestern University. One could take away certain principles from these sessions.
He’d walk up and down. He was an elderly gentleman then, by my standards. He would
walk up and down constantly and walk around. He didn’t sit there, and you could not
hide behind someone that was in the front. We weren’t at desks; we were in chairs set
around—but he’d walk around. “What do you think about that? What do you think
about this?” Pretty soon, you knew that you’d better come prepared because he might ask
you. But again, that’s organization, and preparation, and application, and interchange.

These are skills needed to talk to nurses, to dentists, to physicians, to world-renowned
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physicians, to someone who’s just an assistant chief resident, to someone who’s a first-
year resident, to all the technologists.

So, Il stop talking for a minute.
NEUHAUSER:

You were involved in a key era in the transformation of the Veterans
Administration with General Bradley immediately after World War II.
McNULTY:

I didn’t think so when I was there in the middle of it, but as one looks back, it
was, as you say, a fundamental change.

In retrospect, the Veterans Administration was a third learning opportunity, just as
it had been an opportunity to contribute in World War I, and an opportunity to make a
contribution during the Depression years, prep school, and college. The VA did an
effective job with two segments of veterans at the time I became associated with it. They
were the Spanish American War veterans who were still living—not many, but
some—and World War I veterans. By 1946, they were older citizens as one would now
describe them, so that the Veterans Administration included some hospitals, but lots of
homes, and that’s the name they gave them, the homes. The best as I was able to judge
it—I wasn’t a judge but I heard from people around me—the medical care was largely
provided by physicians who may have retired and then went to work for the civil service
in the VA. I call attention to civil service because that was the method of employment
and reimbursement for physicians and all others working in the Veterans Administration.

I’m not familiar with your area, Cleveland, but in Chicago, there was Hines

Hospital, which is an old hospital, but most of the surrounding activity were homes. It
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was health care, but it was long-term care. I did not recognize this at the time, but we
were part of a movement to change the VA system that was really geared for one purpose:
to take care of the aging and dying veterans. Most of the Spanish American War veterans
were at the end point of their lives, and the World War I veterans were rapidly aging.
NEUHAUSER:

I suppose the average World War I veteran would have been born about 1890, and
they would have been about 55 or so. So they were still a little early for their over-65
years.

McNULTY:

At that time the administrator was a man by the name of Hines.
NEUHAUSER:

For the whole VA system?

McNULTY:

For the whole VA system, and I don’t recall any other portion of his name, like his
first name or middle initial, but he is the individual whom Mr. Truman, President
Truman, I thought retrospectively, handled nicely. He was not in any way
psychologically or intellectually prepared to lead an organization that had to change itself
totally. He had been committed to the status quo, so to speak. Mr. Truman made him
ambassador, I think to Mexico, and brought in General Bradley and General Hawley.

At that time, as I say, I wasn’t conscious that I was part of a movement, maybe
because there were a number of others who were a part of it. I wasn’t a Hawley or
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